### NO. 44268-0-II

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

### ROY EUGENE MILLER,

Appellant.

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

##

### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

### Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court denied the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when it granted a state's motion to exclude evidence relevant to the defendant's claim of self-defense, and when it refused to allow the defense to elicit the fact that the complaining witness had not told the police that the defendant had threatened her with a gun.
- 2. The prosecutor committed misconduct and denied the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when he intentionally elicited evidence from a police officer that he believed the defendant was guilty.
- 3. Trial counsel's failure to object when the complaining witness repeatedly interjected irrelevant, prejudicial evidence denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

### Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. In a case in which the state has charged a the defendant with second degree assault with a firearm, does a trial court deny that defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it refuses to allow the defense to elicit the fact that (1) the defendant feared the complaining witness because she was an active drug dealer, and (2) that the complaining witness had not told the investigating officer that the defendant had threatened her with a gun?
- 2. In a case in which the court finds sufficient evidence to instruct the jury on the claim of self-defense, does a prosecutor commit misconduct and thereby deny a defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if he or she intentionally elicits evidence that a police officer believed the defendant was the primary aggressor?
- 3. Does a trial counsel's failure to object when the complaining witness repeatedly interjects irrelevant, prejudicial evidence deny a defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Factual History

The defendant, Roy Eugene Miller has lived for many years in a house at 361 South 8<sup>th</sup> in Kalama, Washington, along with his five-year-old son Matthew, his older son Christopher and Christopher's girlfriend Nicole Reynolds. RP 41-43, 48-50, 231-239. Rachel Robinson, the defendant's exwife and the mother of Matthew, had also lived in the house until the summer of 2011 when she and the defendant separated. *Id.* She then moved out, leaving Matthew in the defendant's custody. *Id.* However, while she had moved out she returned most days to see Matthew and help tend to Matthew although she would occasionally refrain from visiting if she and the defendant had been in an argument. RP 51-52.

Sometime around July 13, 2012, the defendant became aware that Matthew's mother Rachel was using drugs and dealing drugs with her friend Scott Tuitt. RP 16-21, 21-25, 28-29. Once the defendant found out this information he called and texted Rachel telling her what he had found out. *Id.* He also told her that she could not come over to his house and could not see Matthew until she got her drug issue resolved. RP 16-21, 21-25, 28-29, 239-244. The next day, the defendant got a call from Scott Tuitt telling the defendant that he was coming over to speak with him. RP16-21, 21-25, 28-29. This caused the defendant a great deal of concern given his belief that

Rachel and Scott Tuitt were dealing drugs together. *Id.* The defendant has a number of physical limitations including five herniated disks in his back that make it difficult for him to physically defend himself. RP 231-239.

According to the defendant, at some point during the afternoon of July 14<sup>th</sup> Scott Tuitt did come over to his house to talk with him. RP 253-255. The defendant was concerned enough about the situation that he armed himself with a hand gun, putting it in his belt in the small of his back. *Id.* During this conversation, which occurred in the house, the defendant looked at his surveillance video and saw Rachel Robinson enter his back yard in spite of his repeated orders that she stay away from his house and in spite of his no trespassing signs. RP 239-244. In fact, Rachel had come to the property armed with a knife to use against the defendant if necessary. RP 77-84. Upon seeing Rachel the defendant left the house and walked out to the end of the back yard in the garden area where Rachel stood picking berries. RP 239-244. She had a knife in her hand. *Id.* The defendant then confronted Rachel. RP 57-60, 239-244.

According to Rachel, when the defendant came out of the house he was carrying a pipe. RP 57-60. According to the defendant he came out of the house carrying one pipe, set it down, and then picked up another pipe when he saw that Rachel was armed with a knife. RP 239-244. Regardless of the origin of the pipe, both parties agreed that when the defendant

confronted Rachel he had a pipe in his hands. RP 57-60, 239-244. As the defendant walked up to Rachel he reminded her that he had forbid her from coming onto his property and ordered her to leave. RP 239-244. She refused. RP 57-60. She then opened the blade on the knife and slashed at the defendant. *Id.* She claimed she took this action because she believed the defendant was going to hit her with the pipe, although she did not claim that he had tried to do so up to that point. *Id.* 

Regardless of Rachel's motivation, once she slashed the defendant's arm with the knife the defendant did hit her a number of times with the pipe. RP 59-61. The first blow was to her hand. *Id.* The second was to her shoulder, and the third was to her thigh. *Id.* According to the defendant, he administered each blow in a controlled manner in an attempt to get her to drop the knife. RP 245-250. According to Rachel, the last blow with the pipe knocked her to the ground, after which the defendant stomped on her chest. RP 61-62. The defendant denied this conduct. RP 269. Rather, according to the defendant, she turned and fell over her own feet. *Id.* According to Rachel the defendant then took out his pistol and threatened to kill her with it. RP 61-62. According to the defendant the pistol fell from behind his back and he merely picked it up and put it back in his belt and in no way threatened Rachel with it. RP 251-255.

At about this time a Kalama Police Officer arrived on the scene,

having been summoned by a neighbor who had heard the dispute along with a male voice saying "Die Bitch." RP 43-47. This officer approached the defendant and asked if the defendant had any weapons on him. RP 133-138. The defendant stated that he had a gun and a knife. *Id.* The officer then placed the defendant in handcuffs for officer safety and took the defendant's pistol, as well as a switchblade knife and a "leather man" tool the defendant had on his person. *Id.* The defendant later stated that he did not know that it was illegal to possess the switchblade. RP 273. A second officer arrived a short time later and the two officers then took statements from the defendant and Rachel. RP 145-149, 178-184. Afterward they arrested the defendant and had Matthew leave with Rachel with the defendant's permission. RP 260.

### Procedural History

By information filed on July 16, 2012, and amended on November 13, 2012, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged the defendant with one count of second degree assault with a deadly weapon against Rachael Robinson, and one count of possession of a dangerous weapon. CP 3-4, 8-9. The first count alleged that the deadly weapon was "a pipe and/or pistol" and that during the commission of the offense the defendant was armed with "a deadly weapon, to wit: a pipe" and that during the commission of the offense the defendant was also armed with "a firearm, to wit: a pistol." *Id.* The case

later came on for trial before a jury with the state calling three witnesses: Rachel Robinson and the two police officers who had responded to the defendants house. RP 41, 48, 124, 177. The defense then called three witnesses: the defendant's adult son Christopher, Christopher's girlfriend Nicole Reynolds and the defendant. RP 199, 212, 230. The state then recalled one of the officers for brief rebuttal. RP 275.

Just prior to picking the jury in this case the state moved *in limine* to exclude the defendant from eliciting any evidence, either through its own witnesses or through cross-examination of the state's witnesses, that either Rachel Robinson or Scott Tuitt had either been using drugs or selling drugs, or that these facts caused the defendant any concern for his safety. RP 16-30. Based upon the court's ruling, the defense did not present any of this evidence, nor argue from it before the jury during closing. RP 16-30, 327-339.

On four occasions during cross-examination Rachel Robinson claimed that the defendant had habitually physically assaulted her and threatened to kill her with firearms, and that his actions on the day in question were consistent with his prior assaultive behavior. RP 86-87, 88, 93-94, 95. Her first statement was as follows:

I know how he is. I've put up with him hitting me upside the head and my ear bleeding. I mean, he's pulled his gun on me in front of our son. This is just him, I mean, he's – and yeah, I've fought back

previous times, too.

RP 86.

Rachel Robinson's second statement concerning the defendant's propensity for assaulting her was as follows:

Oh, I got it pulled on me so many times, it's not that I don't pay attention to it. I kind of got used to him pulling a gun on me.

RP 88.

Rachel Robinson's third claim concerning the defendant's history and propensity for violence was the following:

- Q. Are you aware that he has some physical limitations?
- A. What do you mean by that? Physical limitations?
- Q. Bad back, a bad left arm?
- A. Yeah, that's never stopped him before from beating me.
- Q. Okay, that wasn't really my question. My question was you're aware that he has the bad back?
  - A. Yeah, his back. So he says, yeah.

RP 93.

Rachel Robinson's fourth statement concerning her claims of prior abuse and the defendant's propensity for violence against her was:

- Q. You weren't trying to set Mr. Miller up were you?
- A. No, I wasn't. I've never done that. If that was the case, I would have done it a long time ago. All the twenty, thirty other times he's beat on me. That was not my intention I did not. The neighbors

called that I don't talk to, I don't talk to his neighbors. I wanted to get arrested because I was afraid of Mr. Miller, the way he would react, I mean, and I asked Officer Skeie, who – you know, who called the cops? And he said the neighbor.

RP 95.

At no point during any of these statements did the defendant's attorney object or move that the court instruct the jury to disregard. RP 86-87, 88, 93-94, 95. In addition, during the state's redirect examination of one of the officers, the state asked why he did not arrest Rachel Robinson. RP 193. The question and the officer's answers were as follows:

Q. Um, why didn't you arrest Rachel Robinson?

A. Well, as far as the assault, we didn't believe that she was the primary physical aggressor.

RP 193.

Once again, the defense did not make any objection to this evidence or move that the court instruct the jury to disregard both the question and the answer. RP 193. Finally, during the defendant's cross examination of one of the officers, the defense attempted to elicit the fact that while Rachel Robinson was now claiming to the jury that the defendant had pulled a gun and threatened to kill her with it, she did not make any similar claim to the police officers who arrived on the scene during the confrontation and arrested the defendant. RP 175. The state objected that the defendant's question called for inadmissible hearsay and the court sustained the objection. *Id*.

This exchange went was follows:

Q. Okay. Did – on July 14th, when you talked with Ms. Robinson, did she ever make a statement that my client had pointed the gun at her?

MR. BENTSON: Objection, hearsay.

JUDGE HAAN: Sustained.

MR. SURYAN: I'm not a -

JUDGE HAAN: Counsel approach.

(Sidebar; not recorded.)

JUDGE HAAN: Counsel, you're withdrawing the question, is that correct?

MR. SURYAN: Yes.

JUDGE HAAN: All right.

MR. SURYAN: Can we approach, Your Honor?

(Sidebar; not recorded.)

RP 175.

Following the close of evidence in this case the court instructed the jury with neither party making any objections or taking exception to any of the instructions. RP 219-225, 226-227, 285-304; CP 53-82. The parties then presented closing argument with neither party making any objections to the other party's statements to the jury. RP 304-327, 329-339, 339-350. At this point the court released the jury for the day and instructed them to return at

8:30 the next morning to begin deliberations. RP 356. Just a little after noon the next day the jury finished its deliberations and returned verdicts of guilty on both counts. RP 358-361; CP 83-84. The jury also returned special verdicts that the defendant was armed with both a deadly weapon (the pipe) and a firearm during the commission of Count I, and a special verdict that the defendant committed Count I against a family member. CP 85-87.

The court later sentenced the defendant to 54 months in prison on Count I. CP 94. This sentence reflected imposition of 6 months on a range of 3 to 9 months, plus 36 months for the firearm enhancement and 12 months for the deadly weapon enhancement. CP 88, 89-102. The defendant filed timely notice of appeal following imposition of sentence. CP 106.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT DENIED THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL WHEN IT GRANTED A STATE'S MOTION TO EXCLUDE EVIDENCE RELEVANT TO THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF SELF-DEFENSE AND WHEN IT REFUSED TO ALLOW THE DEFENSE TO ELICIT THE FACT THAT THE COMPLAINING WITNESS HAD NOT TOLD THE POLICE THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD THREATENED HER WITH A GUN.

While due process does not guarantee every person a perfect trial, both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment do guarantee all defendants a fair trial. *State v. Swenson*, 62 Wn.2d 259, 382 P.2d 614 (1963); *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). As part of this right to a fair trial, a defendant charged with a crime has the right to present relevant, exculpatory evidence in his or her defense. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

For example, in *State v. Ellis*, 136 Wn.2d 498, 963 P.2d 843 (1998), a defendant charged with aggravated first degree murder sought and obtained discretionary review of a trial court order granting a state's motion to exclude his three experts on diminished capacity. In granting the motion to exclude, the trial court noted that the defense had failed to meet all of the criteria for the admissibility of diminished capacity evidence set in the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Edmon*, 28 Wn.App. 98, 621 P.2d 1310 (1981).

On review, the state argued that the trial court had not erred because the defense experts had failed to meet the Edmon criteria. In its decision on the issue, the Supreme Court initially agreed with the state's analysis. However, the court nonetheless reversed the trial court, finding that regardless of the factors set out in *Edmon*, to maintain a diminished capacity defense, a defendant need only produce expert testimony demonstrating that the defendant suffers from a mental disorder, not amounting to insanity, and that the mental disorder impaired the defendant's ability to form the specific intent to commit the crime charged. The court then found that the state had failed to prove that the defendant's experts did not meet this standard. Thus, by granting the state's motion to exclude the defendant's experts on diminished capacity, the trial court had denied the defendant his due process right under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, to present relevant evidence supporting his defense.

In the case at bar, the defense argues an equivalent denial of due process when the court granted the state's request to prevent the defense from presenting any evidence that the defendant had just become aware that Rachel Robinson and Scott Tuitt were using drugs together, were dealing drugs together, that this was the reason that he had excluded Rachel Robinson from his property, that he felt threatened by Scott Tuitt and Rachel

Robinson, and that this was why he had armed himself with a firearm. This evidence was critical in order to support the defendant's claims that he did not leave his home in order to confront Rachel Robinson with a firearm and was relevant to rebut Rachel Robinson's claims that the defendant pulled that firearm and threatened her with it. This evidence was also relevant and important to the defense in order to show the jury that the defendant had not arbitrarily excluded Rachel from access to their son.

However, this evidence was relevant and admissible for a more fundamental reason. This reason was that in the case at bar the defendant endorsed a claim of self-defense. In order to properly raise the issue of self-defense or justified use of force in the State of Washington, the defendant needed to produce evidence supporting the claim that the defendant's conduct was done in self-defense. *State v. Adams*, 31 Wn.App. 393, 641 P.2d 1207 (1982). Although this evidence did not need to raise to the level of sufficient evidence "necessary to create a reasonable doubt in the jurors' minds as to the existence of self-defense," there still needed to be relevant evidence on this issue. *State v. Adams*, 31 Wn.App. at 395 (citing *State v. Roberts*, 88 Wn.2d 337, 345-46, 562 P.2d 1259 (1977)). In fact, the court may only refuse an instruction on self-defense where no plausible evidence exists in support of the claim. *Id.* A defendant's claim alone of self-defense is sufficient to require instruction on the issue. *State v. Bius*, 23 Wn.App.

807, 808, 599 P.2d 16 (1979).

In determining whether or not "any" evidence exists to justify instructing on self-defense, the court must apply a "subjective" standard. *State v. Adams*, 31 Wn.App. at 396. In other words, "the court must consider the evidence from the point of view of the defendant as conditions appeared to him at the time of the act, with his background and knowledge, and 'not by the condition as it might appear to the jury in the light of testimony before it." *State v. Adams*, 31 Wn.App. at 396 (quoting *State v. Tyree*, 143 Wash. 313, 317, 255 P. 382 (1927)). In *Tyree*, the Supreme Court states the proposition as follows:

The appellants need not have been in actual danger of great bodily harm, but they were entitled to act on appearances; and if they believed in good faith and on reasonable grounds that they were in actual danger of great bodily harm, it afterwards might develop that they were mistaken as to the extent of the danger, if they acted as reasonably and ordinarily cautious and prudent men would have done under the circumstances as they appeared to them, they were justified in defending themselves.

State v. Tyree, 143 Wash. at 317.

The court also stated:

[T]he amount of force which (appellant) had a right to use in resisting an attack upon him was not the amount of force which the jury might say was reasonably necessary, but what under the circumstances appeared reasonably necessary to the appellant.

State v. Tyree, 143 Wash. at 316.

As this review of the law on self-defense explains, evidence

addressing the defendant's subjective belief of danger and evidence addressing the objective reasonableness of that belief is relevant and admissible in order to aid the jury in evaluating these two questions. In fact, the existence of such evidence and effective argument from it is necessary in order to effectively make the claim of self defense. This is precisely why the trial court's ruling on the state's motions *in limine* in this case denied the defendant his right to a fair trial. By excluding the evidence of Scott Tuitt and Rachel Robinson's drug use and dealing, of the defendant's knowledge of it and the fear that this fact created, the court prevented the defendant from effectively arguing his defense in the same way as the court in *Ellis* prevented the defendant from presenting his claim of lack of intent by excluding the defendant's expert witnesses. Thus, in the same manner that the defendant was entitled to a new trial in *Ellis*, so the defendant in this case is entitled to a new trial.

# II. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT WHEN HE INTENTIONALLY ELICITED EVIDENCE FROM A POLICE OFFICER THAT HE BELIEVED THE DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY.

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