NO. 44268-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

ROY E. MILLER,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
ERIC BENTSON/WSBA 38471
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it permitted Miller to introduce evidence that he chose not to introduce.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion, when it held evidence was admissible but Miller's attorney chose not to introduce this evidence. "The decision whether to admit or refuse evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed in the absence of manifest abuse." *State v. Stubsjoen*, 48 Wn.App. 139, 147, 738 P.2d 306 (1987) (citing *State v. Laureano*, 101 Wn.2d 745, 764, 682 P.2d 889 (1984)). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on unreasonable or untenable grounds. *State v. Rafay*, 167 Wn.2d 644, 655, 222 P.3d 86 (2009)). However, for a court to err in deciding an issue, the issue must necessarily be before that court. For example, when evidence

is admitted under ER 404(b), the trial court is not required to *sua sponte* provide a limiting instruction when neither party requests such an instruction. *See State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 124, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

Here, the trial court did not prohibit Miller from eliciting evidence of Robinson's alleged involvement in a drug deal. Miller's attorney argued that the evidence—an email indicating Robinson used drugs³—was relevant to show that Miller excluded Robinson from the property because he believed that Robinson had been involved in a drug deal. RP at 16. The court ruled that this evidence was admissible to show Miller's belief. RP at 27, 30. This was exactly what Miller's attorney had argued the evidence was admissible to show. RP at 16. After holding the evidence was admissible to show his belief, the court explained that if the evidence was used for a different purpose, it would rule on objections as they were made. RP at 30. Thus, at the time of the court's ruling, no evidence had been excluded. In spite of the court's favorable ruling, Miller's attorney elected not to introduce evidence regarding the alleged drug deal. For these reasons, Miller's argument that the court refused to admit the evidence is contrary to the record. Miller simply chose not to introduce

....

³ The email contained the following admission from Robinson: "I honestly don't think I would get clean now but that I am I'm realizing all the stupid stuff that come along with dope. Can't really believe that you would think I set you up." RP at 16.

evidence that the trial court had held admissible. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it did not *sua sponte* introduce evidence on Miller's behalf that Miller chose not to introduce.

B. Because Miller fails to provide any argument or legal authority in support of his assignment of error regarding the court's decision to sustain an objection to hearsay, this issue has been waived.

Because Miller fails to argue or cite any legal authority in support of his assignment of error to the trial court's decision to sustain a hearsay objection, he has waived this issue on appeal. "Without argument or authority to support it, an assignment of error is waived." *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing *Smith v. King*, 106 Wn.2d 443, 451-52, 722 P.2d 796 (1986)). In his brief, Miller assigns error to the court's decision to sustain the State's hearsay objection to Officer Skeie being asked to testify as to what Robinson told him about being threatened with the gun. *Brief of Appellant* at 1; RP at 175. However, Miller fails to argue or provide any legal authority in support of this assignment of error. For this reason, he has waived this issue on appeal.⁴

⁴ At trial, Miller's attorney did not question Robinson about what she told the police with regard to being threatened with the gun. RP at 77-105, 110-11. He then attempted to elicit from Officer Skeie what she had said regarding the threat. RP at 175. ER 613(b) states: "Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same[.]" Because Robinson was not given the opportunity to admit or deny this statement, its admission through Officer Skeie would have been hearsay. Therefore, the trial court's decision to sustain the objection was correct under the rules of evidence. It should also be noted that after a sidebar on this issue, Miller's attorney chose to withdraw this question. RP at 175.

C. Miller did not preserve his claim of prosecutor misconduct for review when he did not object at trial, and the prosecutor did not err because the question asked on redirect was within the scope of cross examination.

Because Miller did not object to the prosecutor's question regarding the decision not to arrest Robinson, and Miller's attorney opened the door to this question during his cross examination of Sgt Parker, Miller's claim of prosecutor misconduct fails. "A defendant's failure to object to a prosecuting attorney's improper remark constitutes a waiver of such error, unless the remark is deemed so flagrant and illintentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (citing State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 596, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995)). At trial Miller did not object to the prosecutor's question, therefore his claim of misconduct fails unless he can meet this heightened standard of review. He fails to do so. First, he has not shown the prosecutor's question was improper, much less flagrant and ill-intentioned. Second, the question did not evince an enduring prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury.

With all claims of misconduct, "the defendant bears the burden of establishing that the conduct complained of was both improper and

prejudicial." *Id.* at 718 (citing *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 726, 718 P.2d 407 (1986); *State v. Luvene*. 127 Wash.2d 690, 701, 903 P.2d 960 (1995)). The court reviews the effect of allegedly improper comments not in isolation, but in the context of the total argument and the issues in the case. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). Even if it is shown that the conduct was improper "prosecutorial misconduct still does not constitute prejudicial error unless the appellate court determines there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict." *Stenson*, 125 Wn.2d at 718-19.

If the defendant objects at trial, to prove prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must first establish that the question posed by the prosecutor was improper. *Id.* at 722 (citing State v. *Brett*, 126 Wash.2d 136, 175, 892 P.2d 29 (1995)). However, when the defendant fails to object, a heightened standard of review applies: "[F]ailure to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of error unless the remark is so flagrant and ill[-]intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). (citing *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991); *State v. York*, 50 Wn.App. 446, 458-59, 749 P.2d 683 (1987)). The wisdom underlying this rule is so that a party may not "remain silent at trial as to claimed errors and later, if the

verdict is adverse, urge trial objections for the first time in a motion for new trial or appeal." *State v. Bebb*, 44 Wn.App. 803, 806, 723 P.2d 512 (1986); *see also Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960) ("If misconduct occurs, the trial court must be promptly asked to correct it. Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for new trial or on appeal.").

Here, Miller waived his claim of misconduct by failing to object because he has not shown the question was improper, much less flagrant and ill-intentioned. It is well-established that "when a party opens up the subject of inquiry on direct or cross-examination, he contemplates that the rules will permit cross-examination or redirect examination, as the case may be, within the scope of the examination in which the subject matter was first introduced." *State v. Gefeller*, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969) (citations omitted). Yet the harm Miller claims occurred—Sgt Parker's given reason for not arresting Rachel Robinson—was subject matter that Miller's attorney put at issue during his cross examination of Sgt Parker.

During his cross examination of Officer Skeie, Miller's attorney elicited that "no trespassing" signs were posted on the property and Miller had told Officer Skeie that Robinson was trespassing. RP at 176. Then,

during his cross examination of Sgt Parker, Miller's attorney elicited that Robinson had brought a knife, that she had said she brought it expecting trouble, that Miller had told police Robinson attacked him, and that he had a cut on his arm. RP at 191. Miller's attorney then asked, "Okay. You didn't arrest Ms. Robinson?" RP at 191. As can be seen from the record, Miller's attorney was obviously implying that Robinson was the wrongdoer, and that she should have been arrested. By putting Sgt Parker's decision not to arrest Robinson at issue, Miller's attorney opened the door to the prosecutor asking him why he had not made the decision to arrest her. For this reason, Miller has not shown that the prosecutor's question was improper, and therefore he has not shown that it was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

Additionally, to overcome his failure to object Miller must also show that the alleged misconduct evinced enduring prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury. While the State does not concede that misconduct occurred, even if the question was objectionable there is not a substantial likelihood that Sgt Parker's answer caused enduring and uncorrectable prejudice. Sgt Parker's response to the question was, "Well, as far as the assault, we didn't believe that she was

the primary physical aggressor." RP at 193. The jury heard evidence that Miller had beaten Robinson with a metal pipe while armed with several weapons, Miller was observed standing over Robinson saying she was on the ground because he "put her there," and Andrew Elliot heard him RP at 46, 59-61, 131-34. exclaim "Die, Bitch." Under these circumstances, Sgt Parker's response was unlikely to have had any effect on the jury's verdict. Further, because Miller did not raise this issue at trial, the trial court was deprived of the opportunity to instruct the jury in an effort to neutralize any concern. Had Miller done so, the court could simply have instructed the jury not to consider any opinion evidence as to Because Miller has not shown that the prosecutor's Miller's guilt. question was improper, let alone flagrant and ill-intentioned or that it resulted in enduring prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an instruction, he waived this issue when he failed to object.

⁵ Miller argues that this was opinion evidence as to his guilt or innocence. Although it can be deduced that if Robinson was not believed to be the primary aggressor Miller must have been, Sgt Parker never testified that he believed Miller to be the primary aggressor or that it was his opinion that Miller was guilty. Further, the State never argued that this statement was evidence of Miller's guilt. RP at 304-326, 339-350.

D. Miller did not suffer ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney chose not to object to answers given in response to his own questions on cross examination.

Miller did not suffer ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney chose not to object to answers given by the victim during his own cross examination of her, but rather elected to use these answers to discredit her. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that prejudice resulted from that deficiency. Strickland v. Washington, 446 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). The appellate court should strongly presume that defense counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy. State v. Barragan, 102 Wn.App. 754, 762, 9 P.3d 942 (2000). Thus, one claiming ineffective assistance must show that in light of the entire record, no legitimate strategic or tactical reasons support the challenged conduct. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Prejudice is not established unless it can be shown that "there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 335.

Whether counsel is effective is determined by the following test: "[a]fter considering the entire record, can it be said that the accused was afforded an effective representation and a fair and impartial trial?" *State*

v. Jury, 19 Wn.App. 256, 262, 576 P.2d 1302 (citing State v. Myers, 86 Wn.2d 419, 424, 545 P.2d 538 (1976)). Moreover, "[t]his test places a weighty burden on the defendant to prove two things: first, considering the entire record, that he was denied effective representation, and second, that he was prejudiced thereby." Id. at 263. The first prong of this two-part test requires the defendant to show "that his . . . lawyer failed to exercise the customary skills and diligence that a reasonably competent attorney would exercise under similar circumstances." State v. Visitacion, 55 Wn.App. 166, 173, 776 P.2d 986, 990 (1989) (citing State v. Sardinia, 42 Wn.App. 533, 539, 713 P.2d 122, review denied, 105 Wash.2d 1013 (1986)). The second prong requires the defendant to show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 173.

"If trial counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.App. 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002). Trial counsel has "wide latitude in making tactical decisions." *State v. Sardinia*, 42 Wn.App. 533, 542, 713 P.2d 122 (1986). "Such decisions, though perhaps viewed as wrong by others, do not amount to ineffective assistance of counsel." *Id.* (citing

Strickland v. Washington, 446 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)).

Here, during cross examination, Robinson referenced prior acts of violence against her by Miller. To support his claim of ineffective assistance Miller argues these references were inadmissible, propensity evidence, therefore his attorney should have objected after these answers were given. While in domestic violence cases there are a variety of ways that such evidence has been found admissible under ER 404(b),6 the admissibility of these statements is not the issue on appeal. Rather, the issue on appeal is whether or not Miller's attorney was ineffective when he chose not to object to Robinson's answers to his questions after they had already been heard by the jury. On each occasion, after the potentially objectionable testimony was given, Miller's attorney had a choice, object to information that the jury had already heard, or simply proceed with questioning and use this information to discredit Robinson.⁷ On each occasion, Miller's attorney chose the latter course of action. This was part of a legitimate trial strategy to portray Robinson as both the aggressor and as one who was making unbelievable, exaggerated claims.

⁶ For example, evidence of prior acts of domestic violence could be admissible to show the defendant's motive, intent, a common scheme or plan, *modus operandi*, or to rebut a material assertion of the defendant. *See, e.g., State v. Baker*, 162 Wn.App. 468, 472-75, 259 P.3d 270 (2011).

⁷ The value of objecting to testimony that the jury has already heard is obviously highly questionable.

In the first instance, Miller's attorney attempted to show that Robinson had been the aggressor because she had brought the knife with her. After getting Robinson to admit that Miller had not barred her from visiting her son in the past, Miller's attorney asked her why she brought the knife. RP at 85. She responded by telling Miller's attorney that he had hit her and pulled a gun on her before. RP at 86. At this point the jury had heard her response. Rather than sidestep this answer, Miller's attorney seized the opportunity and used Robinson's answer to establish her motive by asking, "So you took a knife there to stab him?" RP at 86.

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